## REDEEMER PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH

# Children's Ministry Policies and Procedures West Side

Revised August 30, 2016

Redeemer Presbyterian Church Office 1166 Avenue of the Americas 16th Floor New York, NY 10036

> Phone: 212.808.4460 Fax: 212.808.4465

Redeemer Presbyterian W83 Building 150 West 83<sup>rd</sup> Street 3<sup>rd</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup> Floors NYC, NY 10024

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Ministry Staff
- 2. Philosophy of Redeemer Children's Ministry
  - Purpose
  - Core Values
- 3. Classrooms and Ratios
- 4. Curriculum
- 5. Parent Responsibility
- 6. Volunteers
- 7. Classroom Management
- 8. Gospel-Based Ministry
- 9. Policies
  - Wellness
  - Injury and First Aid
  - Safety and Security
  - · Restroom and Diapering
  - Evacuation
  - Code of Conduct for Child Safety
  - Child Abuse Prevention Policies
- 10. Child Safety, Child Abuse prevention, and policies and procedures acknowledgement forms

## MINISTRY STAFF

#### Meagan Lloyd

Director 951.202.0654 meagan.lloyd@redeemer.com

#### **Julia Boyes**

Preschool Coordinator 913.787.1096 julia.boyes@redeemer.com

#### **Regan Branch**

Nursery and Event Coordinator 205.913.2965 regan.stevens@redeemer.com

#### **Eunice Chen**

Elementary Coordinator and Curriculum Specialist 646.401.1442 eunice.chen@redeemer.com

#### **Laura Rogers**

Administrative Coordinator 917.206.1356 laura.rogers@redeemer.com

## PHILOSOPHY OF REDEEMER CHILDREN'S MINISTRY

## The Gospel • A City • For Generations

The goal of the Children's Ministry at Redeemer is to encourage children to serve and renew their communities through the knowledge and application of the Gospel of Jesus Christ. We work toward this goal by immersing them in scripture, teaching them how to pray and worship, and facilitating spiritual growth among a new generation in New York City.

In addition to teaching children to live Gospel-centered lives, the Children's ministry seeks to encourage & support families in their commitment to stay and engage the city by facilitating, discipling, and offering practical support to them as they apply Redeemer's values and beliefs to their families.

## The Gospel

"For the wages of sin is death, but the gift of God is eternal life in Christ Jesus our Lord." Romans 6:23

"For it is by grace you have been saved, through faith-- and this not from yourselves, it is the gift of God—not works, so that no one can boast."

Ephesians 2:8-9

## ACITY

"Also seek the peace and prosperity of the city to which I have carried you into exile. Pray to the Lord for it, because if it prospers, you too will prosper."

Jeremiah 29:7

#### For Generations

"We will not hide them from their children; we will tell the next generation the praiseworthy deeds of the LORD, his power, and the wonders he has done. So the next generation would know them, even the children yet to be born, and they in turn would tell their children. Then they would put their trust in God and would not forget his deeds but keep his commands."

Psalm 78:4, 6-7

#### CLASSROOMS AND RATIOS

The Children's Ministry has classes available for the following ages:

Nursery: Infants through young 3's Preschool: 3 years through Pre-K

Elementary: Kindergarten through 4<sup>th</sup> Grade

Childcare for Infants through Pre-K is located on the  $3^{rd}$  floor. It opens 30 min prior to each service. Elementary age children sit in the service with their parents until dismissed to their classes on the  $4^{th}$  floor (9:30am and 11:30am) or  $3^{rd}$  floor (5:00pm).

The welcome and check-in areas are located on the first floor lobby and the 3<sup>rd</sup> floor. Parents must check in their children prior to leaving them in a classroom.

Our classes adhere to promotional markers and ratios, as follows:

Class	Promotional Marker	Adult:Child Ratio
Infants/Crawlers (Yellow)	Developmental	1:3
Walkers (Green, Teal)	Developmental	1:4
Two's (Red, Orange)	The month after turning 2	1:5
Three's (Blue, Purple)	When 3 years by Dec. 31 <sup>st</sup>	1:6
Pre-K	When 4 years by Dec. 31 <sup>st</sup>	1:6
Elementary	Grade Level	

Because we want to provide the best care for your child, we closely monitor the adult-child ratio in each classroom. Should a classroom go over the appropriate ration, the supervisor or greeter will ask parents to volunteer. On occasion, a classroom may be closed.

Generally, we promote children the first Sunday after Labor Day in September, with the exception of infant, walkers, and two's classes.

#### CURRICULUM

"From infancy you have known the holy scriptures, which are able to make you wise for salvation through faith in Christ Jesus."

2 Timothy 3:15

### Nursery

Young children learn best by doing! The Redeemer nursery curriculum is centered around a character, the Basket Lady, who visits nursery classes each week and teaches core concepts in a tangible way. In every lesson, she teaches children that the Bible is God's Word, that God made them, and that God loves them. Children are encouraged to explore different items each week from her Basket, such as furry plush animals or squirmy fishies, and to move around in the bodies God made for them. Through singing and stories, the Basket Lady opens little hearts and minds to knowing and loving God.

Fall: God Made Everything

Focuses on God's creation, as described in Genesis 1, including nature, animals, and people.

Winter: God Gave Us Jesus, God Protects Us: Noah's Ark

The weeks of advent through epiphany feature the nativity story, and afterwards the focus shifts to God's protection of his creation, emphasizing each of the animals on the ark.

Spring: Easter and the Old Testament

The week leading up to and following Easter highlight the significance of celebrating Jesus, after which an Old Testament Bible Stories are explored.

Summer: The New Testament

These lessons highlight the life, ministry, and love of Jesus.

#### Preschool

The Preschool (ages 3 through Pre-K) uses David C. Cook's TruWonder curriculum. TruWonder reveals the wonder of who God is to preschool children, allowing them to explore, discover, respond, and be blessed in an interactive environment. Lessons focus on the Big God Story and allow children to learn God's entire story, with a different emphasis each year. The goal of TruWonder is for children to understand they not only play a part in this incredible story, but are also part of a much larger faith community of past, present, and future believers. The curriculum is divided into two main components: worship and small group time. During our large group worship time (Wonder Worship), preschoolers will be introduced to the Bible as one complete story about God's love and redemption through Jesus Christ. The children will explore how they too are a meaningful part of God's wonderful story. They will then have small group time, providing an opportunity to build relationships— with peers and leaders— as they apply and reflect on the lessons through art, activities, and prayer.

### Elementary

Elementary students will be using Lifeway's The Gospel Project curriculum (K-4<sup>th</sup> Grade) this year. This curriculum "immerses children in the gospel through every story, theological concept, and call to mission from Genesis to Revelation." This framework aims for heart transformation through the gospel as children see how the gospel is present in the entire Bible. Children will understand that the Bible "is not just a collection of stories, but one unified story—God's story of redemption" (www.thegospelproject.com). It is our prayer and deepest desire that the Lord would use this series to help your children go deeper into God's Word, grow in the Gospel of Christ, and be able to share the joy and love they have received from God with others!

#### PARENT RESPONSIBILITIES

For the safety and well-being of your child, please adhere to the policies and procedures that are outlined in this entire manual.

#### Alerts and Requests

- 1. If your child has any allergies or special conditions, please explain them to the staff member or volunteer leading your child's class. For allergies, make sure that a note about the allergy has been made in the check-in account. If the allergy is correctly notated in the system, an "A" will appear on the printed name tag.
- 2. Alert the teachers if your child is potty training. Please take potty-trained children to the restroom before dropping them off in class.
- 3. We welcome parents to spend up to 3 weeks acclimating their children to the class. Once your child feels comfortable, we encourage you to leave your child in class so that you may enjoy the service.
- 4. It is often most beneficial to quickly drop off your child, as this reduces separation anxiety and helps the child more quickly adjust to the classroom.
- 5. Drop off your child at the door rather than entering the classroom. This reduces confusion and crowding in the hall.
- 6. Whenever possible, allow one parent to drop off and pick up your child in order to prevent crowding in the hallway.
- 7. Only parents with a security tag are granted access to the hallway.

#### Items you Bring

- 1. Label all of your child's belongings, including diaper bags, cups, bottles, pacifiers, etc.
- 2. Please leave all toys and dolls at home as they can get lost or cause other children to be upset.
- 3. All bottles must be *pre-mixed*. Nursery workers are not allowed to mix formula for health and sanitation reasons.

#### Tags

- 1. Every parent is required to create a profile for their family on our computer system. This system generates our name tags.
- 2. Every parent must print off a name tag for their child and its corresponding security tag prior to entering the childcare area. This is a security measure to prevent unauthorized people from accessing children.
- 3. Once the name tag is printed, affix it to the child's back. Parents should retain the security tag portion as it is required for admittance it to the hallway and pick up. This security number may also be used to page parents in the sanctuary if their child is in need of extra attention in the nursery.

#### Security for Child Pick Up

1. As mentioned above, each child receives a name tag and security tag prior to Sunday School. Parents must retain the security tag portion. It allows parents to access the 3<sup>rd</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup> floor hallways and to pick up their children from class. No adult can pick up a child without the corresponding security tag without direct consent and supervision of the greeter or a supervisor.

#### Volunteering

- 1. We encourage parents to volunteer in our classes. We request that all parents volunteer in class at least 3 times per year.
- 2. When you volunteer, please sign in on the ipad when you check in your child.

#### VOLUNTEER RESPONSIBILITIES

#### Requirements to Serve

- 1. Each volunteer in our ministry is required to complete an application process, which includes a personal interview and background check.
- 2. We hold comprehensive teacher trainings to (1) ensure our volunteers understand and follow our policies and to (2) enable them to nurture our children.
- 3. Youth must be at least 12 years old to work in the nursery with a parent, and 15 without a parent, through permission of the supervisor and classroom teacher.
- 4. In the event that there are last minute volunteers who have not been screened, they will be approved by the supervisor or greeter and placed with a volunteer or staff member who has had a background check.
- 5. Volunteers are entrusted to teach the children of Redeemer about the Gospel. We ask that volunteers commit themselves to the responsibility of building a strong, spiritual foundation in the hearts of the children.

#### Scheduling

- 1. Volunteers will communicate with the area supervisor concerning the schedule.
- 2. Once the schedule is set by the area supervisor, any changes should be made by switching with another team member and notifying the area supervisor as soon as possible. Team members' contact information is supplied by the supervisor.
- 3. In case of an emergency that causes the volunteer to run late or be unable to serve, it is imperative to call or text the area supervisor.
- 4. When a volunteer is no longer able to serve with the Children's Ministry, 4 weeks notice is needed to find a replacement. Area supervisors should then communicate this change to the Volunteer Coordinator.

#### General

- 1. Volunteers must be knowledgeable about and adhere to applicable policies and procedures in this manual.
- 2. Volunteers are not permitted to have any personal drink (other than water) or food during class.
- 3. Personal belongings must remain off of the floor and out of reach of children.
- 4. Phones are to be on vibrate and may not be used in the classroom except in the case of an emergency.
- 5. Any special treats or activities involving food outside of the scheduled curriculum must be approved by the area supervisor.

#### **Arrival and Setup**

- 1. Arrive a minimum of 30 minutes before the service begins, and sooner if preparation is required. *Please be on time*. Punctuality is required and excessive tardiness will not be tolerated as it compromises the quality of programming for the children. Please remember that tardiness has a domino effect, involving supervisors, fellow teachers, children, and families.
- 2. Sign in via iPad upon arrival and take your name tag from the checkin desk.
- 3. Wash your hands before setting up the room.
- 4. Set out any materials needed for class, as provided by area supervisor.
- 5. Ensure that all tables are wiped clean and toys and supplies are put away neatly in their proper places prior to leaving the room. Notice that there are labels indicating where all toys and supplies are to be stored.

#### **Snacks**

- 1. All children's hands must be washed prior to eating a snack.
- 2. A light snack is provided for children in the Walkers and Two's classes. It usually consists of cheerios and water.
- 3. Before handing children snacks, ensure they do not have allergies.
- 4. Children may have snacks and drinks only when they are seated. Children are not allowed to walk around with snacks or cups due to allergy and sanitation reasons.
- 5. Cups should be promptly removed once each child has finished.
- 6. All bottles must be *pre-mixed*. Nursery workers are not allowed to mix formula for health and sanitation reasons.

#### Class Time

- 1. Anyone not wearing an approved name tag is not permitted to enter the classroom. *If there is a problem, or you feel uncomfortable asking someone if they are approved, see the supervisor.*
- 2. One volunteer should welcome children and take attendance while the other engages the other children.
- 3. Be particularly aware of children with allergies and check all nametags for any indication of allergies or other special needs. Ask parents for further clarification.
- 4. Review the classroom rules with the children every week. (Refer to Classroom Management section for details.)
- 5. Whenever possible, sit on the floor with children to interact with them. Being on their eye level helps gain and maintain their attention.
- 6. Remain in the classroom at all times unless you are leaving to take a child to the restroom.
- 7. Enjoy being with the kids! Remember that this is not babysitting, but ministering to these children and guiding them closer to the Lord.

#### **Departure Procedures**

- 1. Children must be wearing a printed name tag to enter the classroom. If a child arrives without a name tag, send the parent and child back to the checkin area.
- 2. When a parent arrives, ask for the child's security tag before releasing the child. *This is imperative: do not release a child without having the security tag.*
- 3. Match the child's name tag with the security tag sticker, affix them to the roster, and turn in rosters and name tags to the supervisor after the service.
- 4. After all children have been picked up, tidy your classroom and return your nametag and lanyard to the checkin area.
- 5. Pick up a free sermon voucher, or register for weekly MP3 sermon downloads.

#### CLASSROOM MANAGEMENT POLICIES

#### Classroom Rules:

- 1. Obey the Teacher
- 2. Listen

- 3. Respect Others
- 4. Keep your Hands and Feet to yourself

#### Proactive Steps for helping Children in the Classroom:

- 1. Communicate the rules at the beginning of class every Sunday.
- 2. Make eye contact when speaking to the child.
- 3. Catch the child being *good*. Use positive reinforcement.
- 4. Have the child repeat what you have asked them to do.
- 5. Try to redirect the child if they are doing something they shouldn't be doing.
- 6. Discipline should always be given in love, not in anger.

#### **Preventative Actions**

- 1. Create a loving, caring atmosphere.
- 2. Establish and communicate realistic expectations for children.
- 3. Focus on positive actions.
- 4. Be fair and consistent with children.

#### **Aggressive Behavior**

- 1. Biting, hitting, pushing, scratching, or pulling is considered aggressive behavior.
- 2. If a child displays any of these behaviors, he or she will be removed from the class and the parent will be notified.

#### Discipline Steps:

- 1. Verbal Warning: If possible, *whisper* to the child in order to not draw attention away from the teaching and onto the inappropriate behavior.
- 2. Remove and Set Apart: Remove the child from the rest of the class. Have him or her sit in a different area of the classroom for a set amount of time or until the child is ready to participate cooperatively.
- 3. Note Home:
  - Use the Parent Communication forms in your classroom. Fill it out and bring it to the front desk for a copy to be made. Give the original form to the parent.
  - Once a parent communication form is sent home, we will work together with the parents to decide what the best next steps are for the child.

#### Self Evaluation

- 1. Pay attention to how you feel
  - If you are stressed, children will sense that. Try to focus on the present moment and the children in front of you rather than outside stresses and circumstances.
  - We only have about an hour with these kids each week to give them our all and teach them
    about the depth of God's love for them, which we can demonstrate through our actions and
    our undivided attention.
  - Take a minute away if needed.
- 2. If you are struggling with a child, pass him or her off to another staff member or volunteer. You are never alone in the classroom, so let those around you help you through the difficult moments.
- 3. Arrive prepared for the morning, in heart and mind. Arriving on time enables you to have time to prepare for the morning (and get that divine energy juice we call coffee...)

## POSITIVE CLASSROOM MANAGEMENT AND DISCIPLINE

1. Praise the Positive and reward good behavior.

Children often learn by modeling behavior. So try, for example "I love the way Sarah is sitting quietly with her hands in her lap. Great job!" The other children will follow quickly in hopes of being praised in the same way. Praising kids rewards good behavior and reinforces it for the entire class. You may also use rewards, such as: obedient children are the first to receive snack or art supplies.

2. Explain the rules of the class every week.

Children do well when they know what is expected of them. Keep the classroom structure similar from week to week. Having a predictable routine helps kids cope with an environment and understand appropriate behavior.

3. Be assertive: Say what you mean and do what you say.

Children need to know what consequences will follow for disobedience. When children know the consequences ahead of time, they are likely to deal with them with less arguing and complaining. It is best to order your classroom around what you have said you are going to do. You are the teacher. Be firm in giving instructions and following through with what you say. *You should never yell at a child.* Speak on their level. Look at them in the eye and make sure they are listening to what you say. If appropriate, have them repeat back what you just said. Do not discipline a child from across the room: go to the child and pull them aside. *Do not* let kids tell you what to do. You must be in control.

#### 4. Make things fun!

Instead of going into things like clean up time with a negative approach, such as "I'm so sorry, but we have to put toys away now..." try addressing it with a positive spin like "OK, kids, I have a mission for you: do you think we can have all of these toys put away in two minutes?" Or, singing the clean-up song is a fun way to begin and encourage a clean-up routine. Don't offer too many activity choices for kids. Switch out the toys so kids do not become bored.

5. Talk to a child who is crying.

Engage an upset child with something of interest. Talk to them in a way that distracts them from thinking about their parents and *avoid* saying that Mommy is coming. If absolutely necessary, you can remind them that Mommy and Daddy will come back soon, but do not make that the point of your conversation. For children who are likely to cry, ask their parents about how to best soothe them.

6. Incorporate the Gospel when you are disciplining a child.

Focus on God's love for the child and your love for the child. Be specific as you explain that you want him or her to follow directions, be kind to friends, participate, etc. Talk to the child about how it pleases the Lord when we obey Him. Remember that discipline should always be given in love, not in anger.

"For these commands are a lamp, teaching is a light, and the corrections of discipline are the way of life."

Proverbs 6:23

#### A SUMMARY OF THE GOSPEL OF JESUS

- 1. God is the Sovereign Creator of all things
- 2. God created people for His glory.
- 3. God is Holy and Righteous.
- 4. Man is sinful.
- 5. God is just and is right to punish sin.
- 6. God is merciful. He is kind to undeserving sinners.
- 7. Jesus is God's Holy and Righteous son.
- 8. God put our punishment on Jesus.
- 9. God offers the free gift of salvation to those who repent and believe in Jesus.
- 10. Those who trust in Jesus will live to please Him and will receive the promise of Eternal Life—Enjoying God forever in Heaven.

From Children Desiring God, Children's Leadership Conference 2007

"Christ also suffered once for sins, the righteous for the unrighteous, that He might bring us to God."

1 Peter 3:18

## GOSPEL-CENTERED TEACHING VS. MORALITY-CENTERED TEACHING

Morality Based	Gospel Based
You must try for Jesus	You must trust in Jesus
What you do	What Christ has done for you
Obedience because of obligation/duty	Obedience because of gratitude/love
You are the hero of the story	God is the hero of the story
The story is about you	The story is about Jesus
Aims primarily at action	Aims primarily at the Heart
Stays small with the story	Appeals to the big story of Redemption

Yancey C. Arrington, Gospel-Centered Curriculum

Our volunteers are a valuable part of our ministry. Volunteers are always needed. If you are not currently serving in the Children's Ministry and would like to be, please contact the Children's Ministry Staff.

The information in this manual should help you understand our role in ministering to your child. If you have any questions, please contact our Director, Meagan Lloyd. We welcome you to the Children's Ministry at Redeemer

Presbyterian Church!

#### POLICIES

#### Wellness:

- 1. Children must be symptom free from the following illness without medication for 24 hours before entering the classroom:
  - Fever of 100 or higher: there is a digital thermometer at the 3<sup>rd</sup> floor desk
  - · Vomiting or diarrhea
  - Conjunctivitis (pink eye or other eye infection)
  - Rash
  - Nasal drainage that is green or yellow
  - Sore throat
  - Open sores
  - Cold
  - Excessive coughing
  - Lice
- 2. If a child develops any of these symptoms while in class, the parent will be paged to pick up the child. If a parent cannot be reached via cell phone or our paging system, the child will stay outside of the class with the supervisor or greeter.
- 3. Security tags for children with allergies will be marked with an "A." Parents should also discuss allergies with teachers at drop-off.

#### Injury and First Aid:

- 1. We can administer only Band-Aids and Ice Packs.
- 2. For children with severe allergies requiring an epi-pen, please give it to the area supervisor.
- 3. If there is an injury in the classroom, the teachers and/or volunteers should immediately tell the supervisor. Any injury must be reported since some trivial injuries can turn out to be serious. The teacher must complete a Parent Communication Form as soon as possible, to be filed, and have it copied for the parent to take home.

#### Safety and Security

We believe that it is of utmost importance that our children are nurtured in a safe and responsible environment. We also desire that our staff and volunteers be protected from any false allegations of misconduct.

- 1. Each volunteer in our ministry is required to complete an application process, which includes a personal interview and background check.
- 2. Each volunteer is required to read and agree to follow the stipulations in this comprehensive manual regarding Children's Ministry Policies and Procedures.
- 3. We hold comprehensive teacher trainings to (1) ensure our volunteers understand and follow our policies and to (2) enable them to nurture our children.
- 4. We have a detailed security procedure for picking up a child outlined in the Parent Responsibility section of this manual.
- 5. There is a Two-Adult rule in place for all classrooms. This means there should *always* be two adults, at least one of whom is a woman, present while children are there. This is to protect the children from the possibility of abuse and to protect the adults from false accusations. If there is a situation in which there is only one adult, the door to the room should be *open*.
- 6. If there are last minute volunteers who have not been screened, they will be approved by the

supervisor or greeter and placed with a volunteer or staff member who has had a background check.

#### Restroom and Diapering:

- 1. Parents should take their toilet-trained child to the restroom prior to dropping him/her off in class.
- 2. Only women should take children to the restroom.
- 3. Only staff or the parent of a child may change diapers.
- 4. All diapers should be checked and changed if necessary before children are picked up.
- 5. Adults must wash their own hands as well as the children's hands (at a sink or with hand sanitizer) after going to the restroom or changing a diaper.
- 6. Staff must always attend a child who is on the changing table. Prepare ahead so that all supplies are within reach. Never leave a child alone on the table, even if just to reach for something.

#### **Evacuation:**

- 1. If the fire alarm sounds while parents are in the service, they must follow the evacuation instructions out of the auditorium. Parents flooding the childcare area will cause congestion and prevent the children from being able to safely evacuate the building.
- 2. All volunteers/supervisors/teachers are aware of the plan to follow in case of an emergency. The supervisors will be responsible for getting everyone out of the building and helping people to follow the evacuation plans in their designated areas.
- 3. In the event of an emergency, the W83 building evacuation plan for infants and children from the 3<sup>rd</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup> floors is as follows:
  - Ambulatory Children Deputy Fire Wardens and assistants will evacuate children via stairwell "B" and out onto the west 83 street sidewalk. Staff and Children will then proceed in a calm, organized manner to the rendezvous location at ORGANIC AVENUE on Amsterdam Avenue and 82 Street. Communication will be made by 2 way radio between children's ministry staff to establish progress and status.
  - Infants –Infants will be evacuated via stairwell "B" and placed in infant evacuation carts that are stored in the lobby stroller room. Infants and staff will then proceed to the rendezvous location at ORGANIC AVENUE on Amsterdam Avenue and 82<sup>nd</sup> street. Communication will be made by 2-way radio between children's ministry staff to establish progress and status.
  - Parents will pick up their children at Amsterdam Avenue and 82 Street. Parents should not go to children's floors.
  - Evacuating staff and volunteers will NOT return to the Ministry center until an "all clear" has been transmitted by the fire department or the fire safety staff.
  - Make sure that no one is left in the areas where you are serving. CLOSE THE DOORS as you exit rooms but do not lock them. Move briskly to outside evacuation areas.
  - Accounting for children: Teachers will have attendance sheets with them. Teachers and Children's Ministry staff should check attendance at Amsterdam and West 82<sup>nd</sup> Street.

#### CODE OF CONDUCT FOR CHILD SAFETY

#### **Background**

The most effective way to reduce abuse of children is to be vigilant. By being vigilant in following the Code of Conduct we will help protect children from abuse.

All staff and volunteers who have roles with children are expected to interact with children in a mature, capable, safe, caring, responsible manner, with a high level of accountability. All adult staff and volunteers are responsible for giving and accepting feedback from others in order to maintain our high level of professionalism.

This Code of Conduct includes, but is not limited to, the following expectations of staff and volunteers. Please sign the attached form.

#### **Code of Conduct**

**Visibility:** All work with children shall be planned in a way that minimizes risks as far as possible. This includes being visible to other adults when working with children. This can be accomplished by planning activities in areas where other adults are present and at a time when other activities are occurring.

**Overcoming Isolation:** At least two unrelated adults shall be present in work with children. When this is not possible, reduce isolation by having a minimum of two children present, informing the child's parent of your meeting, and doing it during a time and/or in a location where your interaction with the child is visible to others. Isolation could be overcome, for example, by taking two or more children to the bathroom together rather than only one, dropping off siblings last in a carpool, or taking your own child or spouse along when providing rides. We expect an adequate number of adults to supervise youth events, especially overnight activities.

**Accountability:** When ministry to a child involves one-on-one contact, the following procedures shall be followed, as applicable. Always be accountable to other adults regarding your interactions with youth or children. Counseling or other necessarily confidential meetings with children shall be done in an office with a window in the door and only when another adult is in close vicinity, aware that the meeting is occurring, and willing to stay in the vicinity until it is completed.

Parents and/or supervisors are to be notified beforehand of any activities with youth or children. For example, before transporting a youth or child, keeping a child after school or a youth activity, or when tutoring a child or youth.

In an emergency situation, find someone to go with you if at all possible, or notify whoever is available.

**Parent Involvement:** Parents are responsible for knowing where their children are at all times. Therefore, parents shall be informed of planned school or dorm activities (e.g. trips included in the schedule for the term) and asked to sign a consent form whenever possible. Parents shall be encouraged to make unannounced visits to program activities, as this also reduces the risk of abuse.

**Supervision:** Supervision also reduces risk. Program administrators shall periodically and randomly inspect classrooms, offices, work areas and other areas where children and adults are together.

**Technology:** Technology should be used appropriately to protect children or youth from abuse and exploitation, for example, to prevent downloading pornographic material from the Internet, access to inappropriate emails, chat rooms, or movies.

**Discipline:** Discipline should be used to teach and correct rather than punish. It should not include slapping, hitting, shaming, yelling at, or belittling a child.

Touch: Because healthy, caring touch is valuable to children but unhealthy touch is abusive, the following guidelines apply. Touch shall be open rather than secretive. A hug in the context of a group is very different from a hug behind closed doors. Touch should be in response to the need of the child, and not the need of the adult. Touch should be age-appropriate and generally initiated by the child rather than the adult. It should be with the child's permission and any resistance from the child should be respected. Touch should always communicate respect for the child. Adults should avoid doing things of a personal nature for children that they are able to do for themselves, including dressing, bathing, etc. Adults and other youth or children should not hit, slap, pinch, push, hold against their will, or otherwise assault children. The following signs of affection are generally appropriate within specific contexts: verbal praise, side hugs, shoulder to shoulder hugs, pats on the shoulder, back, or head (when culturally appropriate). For smaller children, touching their hands, faces, shoulders and arms, arms around their shoulders, hugs, or holding them when others are present. The following behaviors between staff or volunteers and children are inappropriate or may be perceived as inappropriate and shall not be engaged in: touching buttocks, chests, genital areas, or thighs; showing affection in isolated areas or when alone with a child; sleeping in bed with a child; inappropriate comments that relate to physique or body development; flirtatious or seductive looks; any form of affection that is unwanted by the child; showing sexually-suggestive videos or playing sexually-suggestive games with any child; any behavior that could be interpreted as sexual in nature. Team members shall monitor each other in the area of physical contact, helping each other by pointing out anything that could be misinterpreted.

**Verbal Interaction:** Words can also be used to support and encourage a child, such as praise, positive reinforcement, and appropriate jokes. Inappropriate verbal interaction includes the following: shaming, belittling, humiliating, name calling, using harsh language that may frighten, threaten or humiliate the child, cursing, or making derogatory remarks about the child. Adults shall avoid favoring or showing differential treatment to particular children or youth to the exclusion of others. Inappropriate verbal interaction also includes telling off-color or sexual jokes, making sexually suggestive comments, telling inappropriate secrets, or inappropriately discussing sexual encounters or desires with children.

Reporting of Abuse: When anyone has reason to suspect or has knowledge of child abuse within the scope of Redeemer Presbyterian Church's

work and ministry, he or she must make a report according to the reporting protocol of the organization.

## CHILD ABUSE PREVENTION POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

#### **MISSION**

It is the purpose of the church members/attendees and employees to provide a safe, secure environment for children and youth. A safe and secure environment includes a formal, written policy to help prevent the occurrence of child abuse. The following policy and procedures are for the protection of our children, youth, employees, volunteers and families at Redeemer Presbyterian Church. This policy is in agreement with and support of *Overture 6 – Child Protection in the PCA*, approved during the 2014 General Assembly of the Presbyterian Church of America.

#### **GOALS**

The goals of these Child Abuse Prevention Policies & Procedures are to protect children and youth from emotional, physical and sexual abuse by volunteers and/or employees and protect RPC volunteers and employees from false accusations of child abuse.

#### **APPLICATION**

These Child Abuse Prevention Policies & Procedures apply to all people who give supervision to, or have custody of, minors or who have opportunity to have contact with minors in RPC facilities or RPC sponsored activities.

#### **DEFINITIONS**

The following definitions shall apply in this policy:

- Child," "children," and "minor" shall be defined as any individual under the age of eighteen (18) (or whose mental capacity is that of a minor).
- "Adult" shall be defined as any individual at least eighteen (18) years of age (except those whose mental capacity is that of a minor).
- "Youth", "Teenage" or "Teenager" shall be defined as any individual at least thirteen (13) years old or older, but under the age of eighteen (18).
- "Paid Staff" shall be defined as any person who serves as an employee given the responsibility of caring for, assisting with, or working with minors and youth.
- "Adult Volunteer" shall be defined as any non-paid person given the responsibility for caring for, assisting with, or working with minors or youth.
- Child Abuse" shall be defined as verbal, physical, emotional, or sexual abuse of a minor, child or youth.
- "Criminal Background Check" is the procedure used to determine if a potential Adult Volunteer has a record of criminal activity.

#### **TYPES OF ABUSE**

#### **Child Abuse and Neglect**

Generally, the term abuse encompasses the most serious harms committed against children. An "abused child" is a child whose parent or other person legally responsible for his/her care inflicts upon the child serious physical injury, creates a substantial risk of serious physical injury, or commits an act of sex abuse against the child.

Not only can a person be abusive to a child if they perpetrate any of these actions against a child in their care, they can be guilty of abusing a child if they allow someone else to do these things to that child. Child Abuse is defined in law at Section 412 of the Social Services Law and at Section 1012 of the Family Court Act.

Neglect refers to the quality of care a child is receiving from those responsible for him/her. Neglect occurs when a parent or other person legally responsible for the care of a child harms a child, or places a child in imminent danger of harm by failing to exercise the minimum degree of care in providing the child with any of the following: food, clothing, shelter, education or medical care when financially able to do so. Neglect can also result from abandonment of a child or from not providing adequate supervision for the child. Further, a child may be neglected if a parent engages in excessive use of drugs or alcohol such that it interferes with their ability to adequately supervise the child. Neglect is defined in law at Section 1012 of the Family Court Act. Maltreatment is defined in law at Section 412 of the Social Services Law. Although the terms are not synonymous in the law, for the purposes of this website, the terms neglect and maltreatment are used interchangeably.

#### **Child Sexual Abuse**

This policy defines 'Child Sexual Abuse' as any sexual act between an adult and a minor, or between two minors, when one exerts power over the other. Child sexual abuse includes forcing, coercing or persuading a child to engage in any type of sexual act. It also includes non-contact acts such as exhibitionism (A), exposure to pornography, voyeurism (B), and communicating in a sexual manner by phone or Internet.

- A. Exhibitionism is exposing one's genitals on purpose to attract or to cause sexual interest in another person.
- B. Voyeurism is getting sexual arousal from looking at other's naked bodies and genitals, or at others' sexual acts.

The book Making Your Church Safe From Child Sexual Abuse, from Church Law and Tax Report further says that "Child sexual abuse may be violent or non-violent. All child sexual abuse is an exploitation of a child's vulnerability and powerlessness in which the abuser is fully responsible for the

action. Child sexual abuse includes behaviors that involve touching and non-touching aspects. Child Sexual Abuse also includes non-contact acts such as exposure to pornography, exhibitionism or communicating in a sexual way.

#### **Child Physical Abuse**

Child physical abuse occurs when a minor is mistreated or not provided with the basic necessities of life resulting in injury, risk, or harm. Physical abuse is defined as brutal physical contact that is not accidental. It includes hitting, kicking, shaking, burning, hair pulling, biting, choking and other harmful behaviors.

Physical indicators of child physical abuse include: unexplained bruises or welts, bruises that occur with regularity, suspicious burns, and unexplained fractures or dislocations. Behavioral indicators of child physical abuse include: wariness of adult contact, behavior extremes, self-abuse, or acting out of abusive behavior.

#### Bullying

Bullying can be another form of abuse and can result from adult and/or youth behaviors. Bullying can be physical, emotional or mental. Female bullying is becoming increasingly common and typically is in the form of verbal and emotional harassment. Cyber bullying (bullying via internet, email, text messaging, etc.) is also increasingly common and equally destructive.

#### **POLICIES**

#### Hiring Process of Paid Staff / Enlistment Process of Adult Volunteers

The screening process for Paid Staff or Adult Volunteers who desire to work with minors consists of the following:

- 1. All prospective Paid Staff, Adult Volunteer or Youth Volunteer desiring to work with minors will be required to complete a Workers With Minors Application.
- 2. Any prospective Paid Staff, Adult Volunteer or Youth Volunteer determined to have prior occurrences of sexual misconduct or child abuse will not be allowed to serve in any capacity where he or she would have contact with minors. If it is discovered that a current Paid Staff or Adult Volunteer has a history of sexual misconduct or child abuse, the employment or volunteer relationship will be terminated immediately.
- 3. Criminal Background Checks and Online Clearance System will be performed on each prospective Adult Volunteer after an acceptably completed Workers With Minors Application has been submitted, and prior to being approved as a worker, unless the worker is a minor. Annual Criminal Background Checks will be performed on Adult Volunteers, randomly or as deemed necessary.
- 4. All Paid Staff, Adult Volunteer or Youth Volunteer will be required to read and sign the Code of Conduct. One violation of the Code of Conduct may result in dismissal if employed or revocation of permission to volunteer. Two violations of the Code of Conduct will automatically result in dismissal or revocation of permission to volunteer.
- 5. Redeemer Presbyterian Church reserves the right to notify any organization who hires a former Paid Staff, Adult Volunteer or Youth Volunteer of Redeemer Presbyterian Church whose record reflects a violation of the Code of Conduct.
- 6. No prospective Paid Staff, Adult Volunteer or Youth Volunteer will be allowed or approved to work with minors until:
  - all required application and paperwork are submitted to HR department,
  - the Criminal Background Check and Online Clearance System is completed, and he/she has read through the Child Abuse Prevention
    Policies and Procedures manual and has signed an acknowledgment of receipt. Note: Criminal Background Check not required for
    Youth Volunteers.

#### **WORKER PROTECTION POLICIES**

- Two Non-Related Adult Rule: Reasonable efforts will be made to have at least two non-related adult workers present with minors during Redeemer Presbyterian Church activities.
- No one-on-one contact: Reasonable efforts will be made to prevent one adult from being alone with one minor, with the exception of a pastoral counseling situation. Any meeting or discussion on private matters or sensitive issues, must be conducted in a setting that is visible and where they are able to be interrupted. Follow Two Non-Related Adult Rule.
- No separate accommodations: At outdoor and overnight activities, children and youth are not permitted to be alone with or sleep in separate
  accommodations alone with one adult other than his/her parent or guardian. Use of separate restrooms and shower facilities are encouraged
  or scheduled times arranged for use of facilities for children and youth and adult members. If this is not possible, two non-related adults must
  be preset in restroom and shower facilities.
- Constructive discipline: Discipline used in RPC should be constructive, positive, and reflect our values. Corporal punishment is not permitted.
- Nursery: Redeemer only hires females for Nursery Paid Staff positions. Only these paid staff shall change diapers and supervise bathroom
  visits in the Nursery.

#### **SPECIFIC POLICY VIOLATIONS**

The following acts or omissions are violations of the policy and should immediately be reported to the designated program staff after the safety of the child, children, or minor involved has been assured:

- Any display or demonstration of sexual activity, abuse, insinuation of abuse, or evidence of abusive conduct towards a minor while
  engaged in a church sponsored activity.
- Sexual advances or sexual activity of any kind between any person and a minor.
- Infliction or physically abusive behavior or intentional bodily injury to a minor.
- The presence or possession of obscene or pornographic materials at any function of RPC.
- Inappropriate use of social media such as internet chats of sexual nature.

The presence, possession, consumption, or being under the influence of any illegal or illicit drugs or alcohol.

**POLICY REVISION REQUIREMENTS:** The Director of Human Resources, Executive Director and legal counsel of Redeemer Presbyterian Church must approve any revisions to the Child Abuse Prevention Policies & Procedures document.

#### **PROCEDURES**

#### **CHILD ABUSE PREVENTION REPORTING**

Any person, who receives a disclosure of abuse, discovers abuse or has cause to believe that a child's physical or mental health or welfare has been or may be adversely affected by abuse or neglect shall follow the reporting protocol in accordance with the following procedure.

- In the event child abuse is witnessed, a disclosure by child has been made or if there is reasonable suspicion of child abuse, notify the Department Director. The Department Director will then immediately contact the Lead Pastor and/or Human Resources Director. The Department Director will follow-up with a written report to the Lead Pastor or Human Resources Director within 24 hours. Any report received by Lead Pastor or Human Resource Director will be reported to ACS department and/or police immediately in accordance with state, local, and federal laws and regulations.
- In instances where there is an accusation of Child Abuse and a Paid Staff or Adult Volunteer is the alleged perpetrator, his or her immediate supervisor should be contacted and the employment or volunteer relationship will be suspended immediately.
- The Human Resources Director and Sr. Director of Administration & Operation should contact the insurance company to report the occurrence, and should contact the church's attorney.
- Any reasonable suspicion of or allegation of verbal, physical or sexual Child Abuse will be investigated promptly and thoroughly. If such allegation is factual, the employment or volunteer relationship with the (worker) will be terminated without the option to resign
- Child Abuse Incident Report form must be completed within 24 hours from the incident/ reporting time. The reporter as well as the recipient of the report must sign the Incident Report.
- The Director of Human Resources and Director of Communications will be responsible for any communication with the media about any incident or report.

#### **Redeemer Presbyterian Church**

#### Code of Conduct Acknowledgement Form

I acknowledge that I have received, read, understand and agree to the Redeemer Presbyterian Church Child Protection Policy and Code of Conduct, and have familiarized myself with the procedures for reporting suspected abuse. In addition, it is my responsibility to read and comply with any future updates on this policy, the Code of Conduct or changes in how suspected cases of abuse are to be reported.

- I understand the definition of Child Abuse set forth in this policy and the procedures for reporting reasonable suspicion of and/or allegations of misconduct.
- I confirm that I have not been accused of (to the best of my knowledge), been investigated for, or prosecuted for instances involving any form of abuse or inappropriate behavior with a child.
- I agree not to engage in any such behaviors.
- I further agree that as an individual who has engendered trust from a child I will not tolerate physical, emotional or sexual child abuse or neglect.
- I agree to immediately report any reasonable suspicion of or disclosure of inappropriate behavior between adults and minors to the appropriate leadership immediately and cooperate in helping assist the youth of our community to remain safe.
- I also agree to work with the parents of children involved in inappropriate sexual behavior to report to the appropriate leadership immediately and cooperate in helping assist the children of our community to remain safe.

Name	Date	
Position	Field or Office Department	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF RECE	PT OF THE POLICY	••••
By signing below, I acknowledge th	I have received and read a copy of The Child Abuse Prevention Police	cies
& Procedures on the date indicated		
Name	Date	
Signature		

## Redeemer Presbyterian Church Children's Ministry

,	, acknowledge that I have been trained and will
agree to read the Children's Ministry I	Policy and Procedure Manual its entirety as well as all handouts
given to me and will follow the stipula	tions therein.
	Signature
	Date

